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STATE OF MINNESOTA
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
FOR THE COMMISSIONER OF HEALTH

In the Matter of Trevilla of Robbinsdale — RECOMMENDED DECISION
Survey Dates 10/31/03 and 11/12/03

The above matter was the subject of an independent informal dispute resolution
(IIDR) meeting conducted by Administrative Law Judge George A. Beck on Tuesday,
October 5, 2004, beginning at 9:30 a.m., at the Office of Administrative Hearings. The
meeting concluded on that date. The OAH record closed upon receipt of the final
written submission from the Department on October 27, 2004.

Marci Martinson, Unit Supervisor, Division of Facility and Provider Compliance,
1645 Energy Park Drive, Suite 300, St. Paul, MN 55108-2970 represented DFPC.
Susan M. Voigt, Esq., April Boxeth, Esq., and Janny Vue, paralegal, Voigt, Jensen &
Klegon, LLC, 2550 University Avenue West, Suite 190 South, St. Paul, MN 55114,
represented Trevilla of Robbinsdale. Also attending the meeting were Mary Cahill and
Carol Moen for the Department of Health; Carol Skare, Michelle Brown, and Charles
Kuoto-Messam from Trevilla of Robbinsdale; and Dr. Allan Dummer, the facility’s
psychologist.

NOTICE

Under Minn. Stat. 8 144A.10, subd. 16(d)(6) this recommended decision is not
binding on the Commissioner of Health. Under Department of Health Information
Bulletin 04-07, the Commissioner must mail a final decision to the facility indicating
whether or not the Commissioner accepts or rejects the recommended decision of the
Administrative Law Judge within 10 calendar days of receipt of this recommended
decision.

Based upon the exhibits submitted and the arguments made and for the reasons
set out in the Memorandum which follows, the Administrative Law Judge makes the
following:

RECOMMENDED DECISION
October 31, 2003 Survey

That the citation with regard to Tag F250 be sustained.
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That the citation with regard to Tag F282 be amended through a change in the
scope and severity from “G” to “D.”

That the citation with regard to Tag F309 be sustained.

That the citation with regard to Tag F318 be sustained.
November 12, 2003 Survey

That the citation with regard to Tag F165 be dismissed.

That the citation with regard to Tag F166 be sustained.

That the citation with regard to Tag F224 be amended through a change in the
scope and severity from “H” to “D.”

That the citation with regard to Tag F241 be amended through a change in the
scope and severity from “H” to “G.”

That the citation with regard to Tag F250 be amended through a change in the
scope and severity from “J” to “E.”

That the citation with regard to Tag F272 be dismissed.
That the citation with regard to Tag F279 be sustained.

That the citation with regard to Tag F353 be sustained.

Dated this  24th day of November 2004.

s/George A. Beck

GEORGE A. BECK
Administrative Law Judge
Reported: Tape-recorded
(Four Tapes, No Transcript Prepared)

MEMORANDUM

Robbinsdale Rehab, formerly Trevilla of Robbinsdale, (“Robbinsdale” or “the
facility”) cares for approximately 115 residents, a high percentage of whom have special
needs resulting from psychiatric diagnoses, depression and other behavioral
symptoms. Most of the residents are not elderly, and are therefore dealing with
significant physical and mental health problems at a younger age. Many of the
residents are angry, frustrated, and difficult to handle.
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On October 31, 2003, the Division of Facility and Provider Compliance (DFPC)
and its federal counterparts completed a federal oversight survey of Robbinsdale,
resulting in violations under four tags. DFPC commenced a follow-up survey shortly
thereafter, which concluded on November 12, 2003, and cited the facility for violations
under eight more tags. The November 12" survey was compelled by the federal
officials through the filing of a complaint with the Minnesota Office of Health Facilities
Complaint. DFPC issued a Statement of Deficiency (Form 2567), dated November 25,
2003, to the facility, encompassing all twelve tags.

Survey Exit October 31, 2003

Tag F250 — Social Services

Under 42 C.F.R. 483.15, the facility is responsible for providing “medically-related
social services to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, mental, and
psychosocial well-being of each resident.”™ Each resident is to receive individual
assessment and care planning to meet their needs. Facility surveyors are taught to look
for the presence of depression; chronic or acute pain; difficulty with personal interaction
and socialization skills; presence of legal or financial problems; abuse of alcohol or
other drugs; inability to cope with loss of function; and need for emotional support.
“Medically-related social services” means providing or arranging counseling services;
making referrals and obtaining services from outside entities; developing care plans to
aid the residents’ routines, concerns and choices; and building an effective relationship
between residents and facility staff.

DFPC found a violation of 42 C.F.R. 483.15 and assigned a severity and scope
level of “G”, meaning that the deficiency is isolated, but that actual harm resulted.’?
DFPC alleges that Robbinsdale failed to provide medically-related social services to
Resident 38. This resident is a 53-year-old diabetic paraplegic who suffers from chronic
back pain and depression; he also suffered a stroke in August 2002. Resident 38 takes
Paxil for his depression, as well as other medications for his various conditions.®! He is
a two-time resident of the facility, admitted for the second time on July 24, 2003. His
physician described him as quite depressed with decreased coping mechanisms, and
recommended a care plan for Resident 38 that “make(s) the best of the situation.”® On
July 25, 2003, among other orders, the physician recommended that the resident
undergo a psychiatric evaluation in the near future. As of October 30, 2003, the
resident had not seen a L{osychiatrist, and on that day, he inflicted non-fatal knife cuts to
his arms and abdomen.®

DFPC alleges that the facility violated 42 C.F.R. 483.15 by not scheduling the
psychiatric evaluation ordered by the resident’s physician and by providing him
counseling only on an as needed basis when his situation reached crisis proportions.
Further, DFPC notes that the resident’s records lacked documentation identifying what
individualized approaches were to be implemented in assisting Resident 38 in adjusting
to the facility. In addition, DFPC alleges that documentation provided to them by the
licensed social worker (“LSW”) was altered to reflect that the facility had discussed a
psychiatric evaluation with the resident and that he had declined it in favor of speaking
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with the LSW.®! DFPC argues that actual harm occurred when the resident inflicted
three knife cuts to his forearms and abdomen.

The facility argues that the resident consistently refused treatment and cares from
staff and the facility’s psychologist, Dr. Dummer,!? and that he had a right to refuse
treatment under 42 C.F.R. 483.10(b)(4). Resident 38 was highly concerned about
payment for his stay at Robbinsdale, for psychological services, and for transportation
services. According to the facility, Medicare had covered the resident’s initial stay at
Robbinsdale, but he had been denied Medicare benefits on his second admission.®
Additionally, the resident purportedly received a notice of discharge from the facility on
the day he cut himself; facility staff felt that the resident was acting out because of the
letter and financial issues, not due to a lack of social services.?

The record demonstrates that the facility failed to provide medically-related social
services to maintain the highest possible mental well-being of Resident 38. The facility
failed to follow a July 2003 physician recommendation to have Resident 38 undergo a
psychiatric examination. The nursing records indicate ongoing incidents in the facility
involving the resident (without adjustments of the care plan), although none as serious
as his infliction of knife cuts on October 30, 2003. Robbinsdale argues that the resident
declined psychiatric services, but there is no documentation to support this claim. The
apparent altering of a date on a social worker note to make it appear that the Resident
declined services after the July recommendation supports the view that the facility
realized there was a problem with its provision of social services. The facility also
argues that the knife cuts were not related to a lack of services, but rather to a notice of
discharge provided for the resident. It is difficult to conclude that the knife cuts were
directly related to a lack of services. But it is significant that the Resident complained
that “nobody pays attention to me” after inflicting the wounds rather than complaining
about his discharge.

Conclusion

DFPC assigned an appropriate scope level — isolated — since only one resident
was involved in this tag. It assigned a severity level of “actual harm that is not
immediate jeopardy” resulting in a classification of “G.” DFPC points to expressions of
dissatisfaction, agitated behaviors and the self-inflicted wounds to support its
determination. Even though the self-infliction of cuts may not be clearly related to the
lack of services, the severity level is appropriate. The actual harm is the lack of clearly
needed services to a resident with Resident 38’s disabilities. His ability to reach his
highest mental well-being was compromised by the failure to provide the recommended
services. A “G” classification is demonstrated to be appropriate.

Tag F282 — Implementation of Care Plan

Under 42 C.F.R. 483.20(k)(3)(ii), the facility must ensure that qualified individuals
provide residents services in accordance with their plan of care. Surveyors are to
examine whether any problems with quality of care, quality of life, and resident rights
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are attributable to the qualifications of the facility staff, or lack of, inadequate or incorrect
implementation of the care plan.X%

DFPC found five violations of this regulation and assigned an overall severity and
scope level of “G”, indicating that the violations were isolated, but that actual harm
occurred.

Resident 38

See Tag F250 above for a summary of Resident 38’s diagnoses. The resident’s
care plan, dated July 24, 2003, identified altered mood, behavior deficits, mood that was
not easily altered, depressed affect, anxiety, repetitive complaints and resistance to
cares.' The approaches for dealing with these symptoms were one-on-one (“1:1")
meetings with social services to discuss the resident’s feelings on an as needed basis,
encourage the resident to verbalize his feelings as needed, arrange psychiatric consults
as ordered, and provide praise for calm interactions with staff.

DFPC acknowledges that the facility had a care plan in place, but asserts that the
facility failed to implement his care plan when it did not provide 1:1 meetings and
interventions with social services, arrange for psych consultations, educate the resident
as to following the plan of care, and administer medications and monitor their
effectiveness. DFPC argues that if the resident refused a psychological evaluation,
then the facility should have removed that goal from the care plan and replaced it with a
goal with which the resident agreed. DFPC assigned Tag F282 to a “G” level because
actual harm came to Resident 38 when he self-inflicted knife wounds to his arms and
abdomen. This is the only actual harm example under this Tag.

As with Tag F250, Robbinsdale contends that this resident was highly resistant to
most of the cares that the facility attempted to provide. According to the facility, the
issue is one of “interpretation and degree.” DFPC seems to acknowledge that the
facility did provide some assessment and evaluation of the resident, but that the
outcome was not desirable or appropriate. Robbinsdale, in turn, argues that a plan of
care was in place for this resident, and all of the residents at issue under this tag, and
that the success or failure of the plan of care was directly related to the difficulty in
serving this type of resident. Facility staff stated that the care was given to the extent
possig]e, as evidenced by the MDS, RAPS, care plan, treatment sheets and behavior
logs.

DFPC repeats the violation for failure to arrange a psych consult under this tag
that was also cited under F250. However, it also alleges that the care plan that called
for 1:1 visits by Resident 38 with the licensed social worker was not implemented. The
facility argues that the resident refused services and has the right to do so. It also
argues that there was no reason to believe that the resident would harm himself and
that the incident was related to finances. As stated above, the self-inflicted wounds
have not been clearly connected to the failure to provide services. However, even
setting that issue and the failure to get a psych consult aside, the record still supports a
conclusion that a violation occurred when Robbinsdale failed to provide 1:1 services
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with the LSW despite documented incidents of acting out by the resident in August,
September and October 2003. Rather, it appears that the LSW may have avoided
contact with the resident because he was abusive.

Resident 1

Resident 1 was diagnosed with multiple sclerosis and spastic quadriplegia, as
well as mild cognitive impairment. This resident requires extensive assistance with daily
hygiene activities, and accordingly, the care plan directed facility staff to floss the
resident’s teeth twice daily as needed and every shower day.*® DFPC cited the facility
for failing to floss the resident’s teeth as per her plan of care based upon statements
made by the resident that she did not receive help flossing her teeth and one nursing
assistant who said the facility didn’t use floss for its residents.*

The standard of oral care, according to Robbinsdale and their expert, is that a
resident’s teeth must be brushed once every day, and twice if possible.™> The facility
argued that flossing the residents’ teeth is very difficult, but that dental floss was
available to residents if they asked for it or if the staff thought it was needed.™®

Resident 7

Resident 7 has multiple sclerosis, dementia, and moderate cognitive impairment.
This resident also requires extensive assistance with daily hygiene, and the care plan
directs facility staff to provide oral care and flossing.2” DFPC cited the facility for failing
to floss the resident’s teeth as per her plan of care based upon statements made by a
nursing assistant. In addition, this resident was in hospice care as of April 30, 2003.

The facility’s argument regarding the standard of care also applies to this
resident.

The care plans for Residents 1 and 7 call for flossing BID or twice a day for
Resident 7 and PRN or as needed for Resident 1. The testimony indicated that flossing
by untrained staff is not the standard of oral care for nursing home residents. The
facility states that floss was available and could be requested. It believes this is a
documentation issue rather than a care issue. The statement of Resident 1 and the
nursing assistant are sufficient to conclude that flossing was not being done for
residents. The facility did not deny that it did not regularly provide such help. However,
this must be weighed against the standard of care and the difficulty of flossing the
residents’ teeth. Given that DFPC did not contest the facility’s testimony as to the
standard of care, it is recommended that a violation not be found in regard to Residents
lor7.

Resident 2

Resident 2 suffers from rheumatoid arthritis and a seizure disorder, and her care
plan directs facility staff to perform passive range of motion (PROM)!& exercises with
the resident’s left upper arm five times per week and her left ankle each night.2® DFPC
cited the facility for failing to provide ROM exercises to the resident’s left ankle at
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bedtime based upon statements from the resident, facility documentation, and a
statement from the nurse manager that she tells her nursing assistants “to do it, but they
don’t always do it."%°

First, the facility contends that DFPC took the nursing manager’'s statement out
of context, and that the nursing manager was repeatedly reminding her assistants to
document when a resident received ROM exercises, not to perform the exercises.?!
The facility argues that the ROM exercises were being performed on Resident 2, but
just not being consistently documented.?? Furthermore, the resident stated that she did
receive her morning PROM exercises regularly.

Resident 11

This resident has multiple sclerosis with weakness, neurological deficits, and a
high risk of falling. The resident requires total assistance with all daily activities. Due to
this condition, Resident 11’s plan of care directed that she have PROM to her upper and
lower extremities.”” The October 2003 care plan directed PROM to be performed on
the lower extremities three times per week, and the treatment plan directed the nursing
rehabilitation staff to perform the required PROM. Resident 11's treatment record
showed only seven instances of PROM exercises in the month of October 2003.24 A
nursing assistant interviewed by surveyors indicated that PROM would be performed on
a patient only if it appeared on the assignment sheet, and that no such assignment
appeared on Resident 11's sheet.”™ Again, DFPC relies on the statements of the
Nurse Manager that “l tell them to do it, but they don’t always do it (ROM).” During the
survey, DPFC surveyors affirmed that nursing assistants were trained in PROM
exercises and that it was the responsibility of the Nurse Manager to insure completion of
ROM exercises.?®

The facility concedes that nursing assistants perform only those activities
appearing on the assignment sheet, and that PROM exercises were not included on
Resident 11's assignment sheet. The facility maintains that Resident 11 refused cares,
including PROM exercises, but that these refusals were not appropriately documented.
Ultimately, the facility argues that Resident 11’s condition did not decline due to the lack
of PROM exercises.

The record supports the conclusion that Residents 2 and 11 were not receiving all
of the PROM exercises called for in their care plan. One resident and a nursing
assistant attested to this and the exercises were not always documented. However, the
nursing managers comment about “they don’'t always do it” appears to refer to
documentation rather than assisting with the exercises.

Conclusion

DFPC set a scope and severity rating of G for the violations cited in F282. This
means that the scope was isolated and the severity was “actual harm that is not
immediate jeopardy.” The guidelines for surveyors indicates that this severity level is for
a negative outcome that has compromised the resident’'s ability to reach the highest
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practicable physical, mental or psychosocial well-being. It does not include a deficient
practice that has caused a limited consequence to the resident. The record does not
contain evidence of a negative outcome for this tag. The lapse in flossing and PROM
exercises have not been shown to have led to a negative outcome. Neither does the
lack of LSW contact appear to be directly linked to the self-inflicted injury as alleged.
Rather the violations are more properly classified as “no actual harm with potential for
more than minimal harm” which includes minimal physical, mental or psychosocial
discomfort to the resident. It is recommended that this tag be classified as SS=D.

F309 — Quality of Care

This tag involves two residents and concerns the use of pain medication to
alleviate pain symptoms associated with cares performed on the residents. The
regulation requires that each resident must receive and the facility must provide the
necessary care and services to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical,
mental, and psychosocial well-being, in accordance with the comprehensive
assessment and plan of care.

In the Guidance to Surveyors, “Highest practicable’ is defined as the highest
level of functioning and well-being possible, limited only by the individual’'s presenting
functional status and potential for improvement or reduced rate of functional decline.
Highest practicable is determined through the comprehensive resident assessment by
competently and thoroughly assessing the physical, mental or psychosocial needs of
the individual.” For the purposes of this tag, the DFPC has highlighted the portion of the
Guidance that reads: “If services and care are being provided, determine if the facility is
evaluating the outcome to the resident and changing the interventions if needed. This
should be done in accordance with the resident’s customary daily routine.”

Resident 17

Resident 17 is diagnosed with Rheumatoid Arthritis, stasis ulcers due to venous
insufficiency with skin lesions, and urinary incontinence. The survey alleges “Resident
#17 suffered actual harm when he was not provided with adequate pain management
during dressing changes.” Because of the finding of actual harm observed on one
occasion, the scope and severity level was set at G.

The surveyor observed the resident receiving cares and having dressings
changed. During the dressing changes on 10/31/03, the surveyor observed the resident
moaning, screaming, vocalizing “ow”, “oh” and “ah” and at one point, jumping.?? The
resident had not received pain medication prior to the procedure, nor was he given any
during the procedure after he indicated he was in pain. The resident’'s medication
administration record (MAR) indicated that the last time he had received pain
medication was at 1 a.m. on 10/31/03.1%

The facility is aware that the resident suffers from daily pain. The surveyor’s
record review revealed a progress note dated 9/10/03, written by the LSW, that stated
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“the resident was having much pain and would yell out during dressing changes.”?
The resident may receive Oxycodone for pain every 4 hours as needed.?”

The facility responds that Resident 17 has pain whenever his limbs are
moved.BY The resident’s care plan does not call for Oxycodone before each dressing
change, but rather as needed. The resident’s care plan also states that the resident “is
able to make needs known.” The facility argues that the resident could have asked for
pain medication if he wanted to receive it. The Surveyor Notes Worksheet states that
Resident 17 stated “Pain = they give me pills if | ask for them.”®?

The facility maintains that the pain experienced by the resident is due to his
clinical condition, not to some action or inaction on the part of facility staff. The record
indicates otherwise. If a resident is showing the verbal and non-verbal signs of pain as
observed by the surveyor, and no pain medication is offered to meet that need, the
Oxycodone is not being provided “as needed.” Providing the pain medication after the
treatment has concluded, or only upon request, may, as it did on at least one observed
occasion, result in the resident experiencing pain due to staff inaction.

Resident 6

Resident 6 is a 63-year-old female at the end stage of Multiple Sclerosis who is
on hospice and has renal failure.®¥ The surveyor observed the resident to moan, and
heard her say “that hurts” during cares, on two different days.*¥ Many people with MS
suffer from pain according to DFPC.

The Facility responds that Resident #6’s Pain Data Collection and Assessment
dated October 2, 2002 states “Res denies Pain @ this time.”®® The same exhibit also
indicates that no complaints of pain were noted in several subsequent reviews. The
facility states that the resident “never complained about pain nor did she ask for any
medication for pain during the course of her treatments.”® An assessment completed
08-05-2003 notes under “Pain Symptoms,” that the resident does not complain or show
evidence of pain.®” The RN Visit records for 10/2/03, 10/8/03, 10/9/03, 10/16/03,
10/20/03, 10/28/03, and 10/30/03, all state that the resident denied having pain and no
non-verbal signs of pain were observed.®® A bi-weekly interdisciplinary plan of care
summary dated 10/21/03 also states that the Patient “denies pain” and “is able to make
needs known to staff.”2?

The resident’'s Minimum Data Set (MDS) dated 8/5/03 indicates the resident
suffered from both short- and long-term memory loss.*® DFPC argues that “[t]here is
no indication the assessments were performed at a time when the resident was
receiving cares or when her extremities were being moved.” DFPC speculates that the
resident may deny having pain if she is asked about it after the cares have been
provided or when her limbs are not being moved. There is no support in the record for
the assumption that the resident was asked if she had pain only after her cares were
completed or when her limbs were not being moved.
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Nevertheless, if a resident says “that hurts” or displays non-verbal signs of pain,
a reasonable response is to offer pain medication at that time. The fact that the resident
has denied pain in the past, or not been observed to exhibit non-verbal signs of pain in
the past, does not excuse the failure to offer pain medication when the resident clearly
expresses that something is painful. Failure to offer pain medication when a resident
complains of pain is not consistent with the facility’s responsibility to provide care that
will maintain a resident’s “highest practicable physical, mental, and psychosocial well-
being.” The facility did not evaluate the outcome to the resident and change the
intervention as needed.

Conclusion

DFPC assigned a scope and severity rating of “G” for the violations noted in tag
F309. This means it determined that the scope was isolated and the severity was
“actual harm that is not immediate jeopardy.” Robbinsdale urges that this deficiency be
lowered to a “D” which would mean that the severity would be no actual harm but with
potential for more than minimal harm. That severity level does not square with the
observations of the residents by the surveyors, since they observed the residents in
pain. The harm was directly related to the violation. The scope and severity level of “G”
is sustained.

Tag F318 — Quality of Care; Range of Motion Treatment

Under 42 C.F.R. 483.25(e)(2), residents with limited range of motion must receive
appropriate treatment and services to increase their range of motion and/or to prevent
further decrease in range of motion. Adequate preventive care may include active ROM
or passive ROM performed by the facility staff, and application of splints and braces.""
Clinical conditions such as bed rest, stroke, multiple sclerosis, cerebral palsy, arthritis,
and late stage Alzheimer’s are primary risk factors for decreased range of motion. A
reduction in ROM is considered unavoidable only if adequate assessment, appromate
care planning, and preventive care was provided and resulted in limitation in ROM.!2

DFPC found three violations of the regulation and assigned an overall severity
and scope level of “E” to the tag, meaning that the facility engaged in a pattern of events
where no actual harm occurred, but where a potential for more than minimal harm that
is not immediate jeopardy existed.

Resident 2

See the factual summary above regarding Resident 2 under Tag F282. The
resident’s care plan, dated September 26, 2003 directs the nursing staff to provide the
resident with left upper arm PROM five times per week and PROM to the left ankle at
night.*¥ According to Resident 2, she regularly receives PROM on her left upper arm,
but since her move to another floor in the facility in July, there is only one nursing
assistant that will routinely perform PROM on the resident’s ankle.*¥ During the month
of October, 2003, the resident’s treatment plan documentation noted PROM having
been provided 14 out of the last 29 days.”® DFPC objects to the alleged haphazard
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method of providing PROM, and the facility’s failure to include this resident's PROM on
daily staff assignment sheets. DFPC acknowledges that Resident 2’'s ROM limitations
may not have been avoidable, but is instead concerned with whether the facility was
following its own care plan.

As with Tag F282 above, the facility contends that DFPC took the nursing
manager’s statement out of context, and that the nursing manager was repeatedly
reminding her assistants to document when a resident received ROM exercises, not to
perform the exercises. The facility argues that the ROM exercises were being
performed on Resident 2, but just not being consistently documented.

Resident 11

See the factual summary and arguments of the parties above regarding Resident
11 under Tag F282.

As indicated above, the record establishes that Residents 2 and 11 had
limitations in ROM and that the exercises were not always implemented. The facility’s
argument that the exercises were done but not documented cannot be credited in light
of the comments of Resident 2 and the nursing assistant. Allowing staff to fail to
document services means that whether the services were provided is in doubt. The
DFPC established that violations more likely than not occurred.

Resident 7

Resident 7 has MS with a severe limitation of all extremities. Accordingly, in
addition to the facts summarized above under Tag F282, this resident’s care plan also
included PROM exercises once a day to prevent further loss of range of motion in the
upper and lower extremities.”® DFPC relies on treatment plan documentation to
demonstrate that the facility only provided PROM exercises to Resident 7 twice in
September 2003, and four times in October 2003.%” DFPC acknowledges that
Resident 7 had a history of refusing cares, but that the facility never documented those
refusals.

Robbinsdale argues that Resident 7 often refused cares and medication and that
he signed a Refusal of Care or Treatment form on August 6, 2002.18 The facility also
produced a Multi-Disciplinary Therapy Screening Tool, dated August 27, 2003,
indica}l[_tgi]ng that skilled therapy intervention was not appropriate for Resident 7 at that
time.

The record shows that it is more likely than not that Resident 7 did not receive the
PROM exercises called for in the care plan. The Refusal of Care cited by Robbinsdale
does not specifically include ROM exercises. The screening tool dated August 27, 2003
notes that skilled therapy may not be appropriate but indicates it may be provided by
hospice if appropriate. The record indicates that it was provided on occasion after
August 27, 2003. A violation was established.

Conclusion
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Tag F318 was issued at an E level because DFPC concluded three residents
were affected on a regular basis, thereby establishing a pattern. DFPC labeled the
severity level as “not actual harm with potential for more than minimal harm.” The
facility suggests that this deficiency should be eliminated. However, the record
establishes the violations and DFPC has shown a pattern. The severity cannot
reasonably be characterized as having only the potential for minimal harm since the
failure to perform ordered ROM exercises for residents with arthritis, MS, and with a
severe limitation of all extremities could have a potential for more than minimal harm.
The “E” scope and severity rating is appropriate.

Survey Exit November 12, 2003

F165 — Grievances - Reprisal

This tag involved five residents and concerned alleged retaliation against
residents who make complaints. The regulation states that the resident has the right to
voice grievances without discrimination or reprisal. Such grievances include those with
respect to treatment that has been furnished as well as that which has not been
furnished. The Guidance to Surveyors clarifies that the right to voice grievances is not
limited to a formal, written grievance process, but also includes a resident’s verbal
complaint to facility staff.

Resident A

Resident A is paralyzed and unable to use her arms and legs. She is totally
dependent on staff for all bodily needs. In an interview, Resident A stated that if she
and her roommate speak up and complain, the nursing assistants (NAs) ignore
them.®™@ Resident A reported that the NAs would come in, turn off her call light, and
leave without even asking what she wanted.® She stated that this made her “feel
terrible” and that she was “fearful” that no one would answer her call light at all.®?

DFPC alleges that this “resident was harmed due to the mental anguish of being
ignored and as evidenced by her statement “It makes me feel terrible.” There is no
guestion that being ignored is unacceptable in the case of someone totally dependent
upon staff for her needs. However, the cited violation here concerns the retaliation
against residents for voicing a grievance. The resident does not indicate that she is
retaliated against for speaking up; instead she reports that she does speak up and is
ignored. DFPC does not allege that the resident was ignored, and therefore
discriminated against, because she made complaints; to the contrary, it alleges under
other tags that residents’ needs were often ignored.”® This resident's reported
experience does not support a finding that residents suffered discrimination or reprisal
after making complaints.

Resident B-1
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Resident B-1 reported that staff yelled at her, but that she hasn’t reported it
because she is afraid of retaliation.*” This resident wanted to remain anonymous.®
The facility responded that “[b]ecause of the resident’s own diagnosis, and according to
MDH’s own Resident Review Worksheet, page 1 (see MDH Exhibit J6a), this resident is
not interviewable.”®

Even if resident B-1 were “interviewable,” DFPC has not shown that the resident
does not have “the right to voice grievances without discrimination or reprisal.” The
regulation does not speak of the “fear” of retaliation, but rather the right to be free from
discrimination or reprisal. Nothing that B-1 said supports the DFPC'’s allegation that she
was unable to voice grievances without retaliation; only that she had not voiced
grievances for fear of retaliation. Fear of retaliation does not meet DFPC’s burden to
show that residents are deprived of the right to voice grievances without discrimination
or reprisal.

Resident 19

Resident 19's “most prominent problem” is anxiety.®” He has repetitive anxious
concerns and persistently seeks attention or reassurance regarding schedules and
relationship issues.® Resident 19 told the surveyor that he had complained during the
10-31-03 survey that an NA had been late putting him to bed and getting him up from
bed.®™ The resident stated that the NA about whom he had complained came back
within a half hour after the complaint had been made and “verbally accosted” him./*¥

The incident reported by Resident 19 provides some evidence of reprisal for
having exercised the right to voice a grievance. The facility responded that the surveyor
had not complied with the Principles of Documentation (POD) in this instance.® DFPC
guotes the POD as follows: “To the greatest extent possible, the surveyor verifies the
information obtained from interview through observation or record review. In the
absence of other objective validation of information, information may also be
confirmed/verified through multiple interview sources.”®?

Resident 19's statements were made during a group interview.®® Therefore, the
surveyor was in a position to confirm this information through multiple interview sources
at that time. The surveyor did ask whether staff would retaliate and at least 3 residents
agreed.™ In response to the question, the surveyor reports that the group laughed,
and one resident said “Well, of course we fear retaliation.”®™ As stated above, “fear” of
retaliation is not a violation. This regulation is intended to ensure that residents are able
to voice grievances without retaliation, not that they be free of the fear that it might
happen.

Resident 7

Resident 7 is a 54-year-old who suffers from severe depression, psychosis, and
a history of ideations. The facility understood DFPC to characterize a no harm contract
and an agreement that the resident made with the Director of Nursing as reprisal.®® In
fact, DFPC makes no allegation that Resident 7 experienced discrimination or reprisal
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for voicing grievances, only that she felt “in the middle” between the surveyor and the
Director of Nursing.® Even if feeling “pressure” could be interpreted to be
discrimination or reprisal, there is no evidence that Resident 7 had voiced any grievance
prior to signing the agreement. There is inadequate support in the record for including
Resident 7 in this tag.

Resident B-2

DFPC does not allege that this resident was unable to voice grievances because
of discrimination or reprisal, or even that he was retaliated against. On the contrary, this
resident, who is the president of the Resident Council, stated that the administrator
listens to grievances brought up by the council, “but nothing is done.”™®®

Conclusion

This regulation is designed to ensure that residents have the right to voice
grievances without discrimination or reprisal. This regulation does not say anything
concerning the adequacy of the facility’s response to grievances, but concentrates on
the consequences, if any, faced by residents who voice grievances. Whether the facility
takes any action to resolve voiced grievances is the subject of the next tag. Looking
solely at the issue of discrimination or reprisal for grievances, DFPC has not met its
burden of proof. The incident reported by Resident 19 was not verified and the staff’s
action was not clearly linked to the complaint. It is recommended that this be
dismissed.

F166 — Grievances - Resolution

This tag concerned the response of facility administration to resident grievances.
The regulation requires prompt efforts by the facility to resolve complaints brought by
residents. The Guidance to Surveyors states that prompt efforts to resolve grievances
include the facility’s acknowledgement of grievances and active work toward their
resolution.

The facility described its process for following up on complaints raised in the
Resident Council meetings as follows: Grievances brought up in Resident Council
Meetings result in recommendations to various facility departments.@] The department
receives a copy of the complaint and is supposed to respond before the next Council
meeting concerning how it intends to resolve the issue. The facilitbalso presented
testimony that individual’s complaints were handled in a timely fashion.!”®

The President of the Resident Council presented a different picture concerning
the administration’s response to concerns raised by residents. He reported that many
residents have stated that it is not worth attending Resident Council meetings because
nothing is done in response to resident complaints.”™ He stated that the facility
administrator listens to the complaints, but no action is taken to resolve them.’? There
was no evidence that the facility had any kind of tracking system for complaints. DFPC
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alleges that the facility did not have a system that documented and monitored
complaints, and thus there was no means to evaluate whether concerns were
adequately addressed.”

Specifically, DFPC alleges that facility administration did not acknowledge and/or
work to resolve specific resident complaints about:/"

1. Staffing

Resident Council Meeting minutes from the months of January,™ February,™
April, ™ May,® August,'™ and October,®¥ 2003 contained resident concerns regarding
insufficient staff to meet their needs. Two of the most frequent complaints concerning
inadequate staffing were the slow or inadequate response to call lights, and the
treatment residents received from the weekend staff. These concerns were also
commonly raised in the interviews conducted with residents during the survey.

a. Call lights

The slow or inadequate response to call lights was a grievance raised at the
January,® February,®? April®® and May,®” 2003 Resident Council Meetings. It was
also the subject of an individual resident’'s complaints,® as well as several residents at
the group interview.®® Residents stated that they had to wait up to two hours for a staff
person to respond to a call light.®? Several residents also complained that staff would
come in to their room, shut off the call light, and leave without asking what the resident
needed.®®

The facility responded by presenting the results of its call audit®™® and with
testimony from Michelle Brown that there are some residents who use their call lights
excessively, some that even ring them several times a minute.®¥ There is no indication
from the call light audit that residents are using their call lights several times a minute,?
or even several times a day. The call light audit indicates a quick response time
overall.**!

However, one of the complaints is not the length of time it takes for a staff
member to answer the call light, but rather that the response is inadequate, or even
nonexistent. The call light audit provides no indication of the quality of the response to
the residents using their call lights. This additional complaint could explain why
response times appear very good on the audit, and yet resident complaints about staff
responses when they used their call light continually. The problem was likely the quality
of the staff response more than simply the timeliness of it. There is ample evidence of
resident complaints about this issue over time. In summary, the number of complaints
about staff response to call lights, and the consistency of the issues raised, demonstrate
by a preponderance of the evidence that this grievance was not resolved.

b. Staffing levels
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There were complaints concerning staffing levels in the January® and
October® 2003 Resident Council minutes, as well as in the group interview conducted
by a surveyor.® Residents complained about staffing levels on the weekends in
particular in the August,®? September,”® and October,®® 2003 Resident Council
Meetings.

In response to complaints concerning staffing levels in general, the facility
responded that it staffed at the levels allowed by the budget*®® The residents’
complaints regarding inadequate care on the weekends were forwarded to the facility
administration and the nursing department on a Resident Council Action Form.!!
There was no response from facility administration.’? The nursing department
responded by speaking to all of the staff involved and gave each of them a verbal

warning. It also posted the list of concerns where staff could see it.X%*!

In response to complaints about inadequate staffing, the facility administrator
stated that the facility staffs at a level of 3.6 hours per resident, better than the level at
most facilities.?* DFPC responded that the issue is not whether the facility maintains
the minimum staffing level required by the State, or even whether it is better-staffed
than other comparable facilities, but rather whether it has adequate staffing to meet the
needs of the residents. The sheer number of complaints over time about staffing levels
and the resulting inadequate care, suggests that the staffing level is not adequate or,
even if adequate in terms of numbers of staff people, is not responsive to resident
needs.

The facility has not altered its staffing levels in response to these complaints.*%!
Instead, the surveyor was told by several different people (staff and residents) that
certain staff is regularly sent home an hour to an hour and a half early.[m One staff
person reported having to complete 8 hours of work in 7 hours, and stated “we need

more help.”%%

The statements of both residents and staff, and the lack of responsiveness on the
part of the facility administration, are sufficient to meet DFPC’s burden of proof for its
allegation that staffing levels are not adequate.

2. Incontinence products

Resident Council Meeting minutes from April, 2% May,*® June™% and July®*!¥ of
2003 contain resident complaints regarding a change in the incontinence products
provided by the facility and worn by certain residents.!2? The residents did not like the
new products because they leaked, were uncomfortable and caused skin irritation.3!
Staff also complained that the new products leaked and therefore required more whole

bed changes than the former products.**!

There is conflicting information in the exhibits provided by the DFPC concerning
whether the facility acknowledged and took action to resolve these grievances. There
is no documented response to a memo sent to the Nursing Department in April of
2003.2%) The Quarterly Resident Council Report for 7/03 — 9/03, however, states
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“Residents discussed the issues regarding the new incontinent products that the facility
had begun to use. After discussing with their nurses and administration, different
products were chosen for some of the residents that had concerns.”*%

Nevertheless, at the time of group interviews during the October*” and
November**®l 2003 surveys, there were still complaints about the new incontinence
products. In fact, those residents who could afford the $60 a month required to
purchase the “chux” brand were buying them themselves. The facility provided no
evidence that it acknowledged or responded to this resident concern.2*¥ DFPC met its
burden in showing that the facility did not fulfill its obligations under this regulation with

respect to resident grievances about incontinence products.
3. Showers

Resident Council Meeting Minutes for May,*2? June*2¥ and September,*2? 2003
contain issues concerning the showers. Although DFPC characterizes all of these
issues as complaints regarding the cleanliness of the showers, only the May and June
minutes contain such complaints; the September minutes contain a complaint
concerning the drainage of one of the showers since a new floor was installed.*?¥ One
resident interview also contained grievances concerning the cleanliness or neatness of
the shower area,*® and the surveyor observed some areas of one shower that were
not clean.®®! In summary, there were resident complaints brought to the Resident
Council in May and June, as well as one resident complaint during the survey,
concerning the cleanliness of the showers. No other complaints appear in the record.

The facility responded that the showers are cleaned daily.*?® There is nothing in
the record to indicate that they are not.*?” DFPC has not produced any evidence to
suggest that daily cleaning of the showers is an insufficient response to complaints
about the cleanliness of the showers. The fact that there were no complaints brought to
the Council after June, and that only one resident raised the issue, suggests that the
response to the grievances resolved the shower cleanliness problem for the great
majority of the residents. The fact that the surveyor observed some hair and scuff
marks, and some easily removed dirt, does not demonstrate, by a preponderance of the
evidence, the lack of facility acknowledgement and response to resident concerns
regarding shower cleanliness.

4. Linens

Resident Council Meeting minutes for April,*2® May™??! and June!**¥ of 2003
contain complaints from residents concerning the texture of the linens. Specifically,
residents complain that the sheets and towels are rougher than they were before.
There are no recorded complaints concerning the linens after June of 2003.13

The facility’s response to the residents’ concerns consists of a memo entitled
“RESIDENT COUNCIL CONCERN” from Denise L. Morin, Housekeeping/Laundry
Manager.®*¥ The memo states in part that Ms. Morin called and faxed a letter of
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concern to the central laundry concerning the resident complaints. She was informed
that the laundry had not changed its soaps or softeners and that they regularly received

new linens.2%

The one interview in the November survey that raises this issue contains the
following comment concerning the texture of the linens: “personally | don’'t see as a
problem [indecipherable word] who will complain — rest of residents happy — some will
co[mplain] about anything.”*** Resident interviews do not support DFPC’s contention
that the texture of the linens is an issue that was complained of by residents and not
addressed by the facility.

DFPC faults the facility for not “conduct[ing] further investigation to determine if
the type of linens had been changed or [] pursufing] a different linen company.!*3!
Given that there were no complaints raised in the Resident Council or in individual
resident interviews after June of 2003, and the Resident Council received a response
concerning this issue from the Housekeeping/Laundry Manager, the record does not
support the DFPC’s assessment that “the administrator did not respond to complaints
about the rough texture of the linens.”**!

5. Mail delivery on weekends

The Resident Council Meeting minutes for September®™” of 2003 contain a
concern about the delivery of mail on weekends.®*® The concern was that “there have
been a couple of times when the mail has been delivered after 2:00 p.m. on Saturdays
and then it is not being distributed to the residents until Monday."™% At the next
Resident Council meeting, the Director of Nursing stated that it was the responsibility of
the weekend receptionist to sort the mail and deliver it to the floors. If the mail had not
been delivered by 2:00 p.m., the receptionist was to inform the Nursing Supervisor who

would sort and deliver the mail to the floors.24%

A group interview of the residents on 11/10/03 indicated that the mail had not
been delivered over the preceding weekend. This suggests that the facility response to
the complaint about mail delivery was not adequate to address the problem. The
requirement of this tag is that the facility acknowledge a complaint and actively work to
address the grievance. The facility presents no evidence that it effectively did so in this

instance. 24

Conclusion

In summary, the facility demonstrated that resident complaints about the
cleanliness of shower areas and the texture of the linens were resolved. The facility’s
acknowledgement and response to resident grievances concerning staffing,
incontinence products, and mail delivery on weekends were shown to be inadequate by
a preponderance of the evidence.

DFPC issued this tag at a scope and severity of “E” meaning that there was no
actual harm with a potential of harm and a pattern present. The record shows that three
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of the matters raised by residents were not resolved, while two concerns were
resolved. The facility argues that this tag should be dismissed because it maintained
minimum staffing levels. However, the regulation requires prompt resolution of
complaints rather than specific staffing levels. The unresolved complaints that were
supported represent a pattern. And the unresolved staffing complaints relating to call
lights and staff response justify a conclusion that there was a potential for more than
minimal harm. The staff cannot determine the seriousness of a request for assistance
without a prompt response to a call light. The record therefore supports an imposition of
an “E” rating.

F224 — Staff treatment of residents

The regulation requires the facility to develop and implement written policies and
procedures that prohibit mistreatment, neglect, and abuse of residents. The Guidance
to Surveyors states that the intent of this regulation is to ensure that residents are not
mistreated or neglected. Neither the DFPC nor the facility addressed the development
and implementation of policies and procedures to address treatment of residents. All of
the evidence and arguments addressed the issue of whether residents had been
mistreated or neglected.

DFPC uses many of the same examples as evidence under this tag as it does for
F241, infra, concerning affronts to resident dignity. Several of the allegations under that
tag were not proven by a preponderance of the evidence. It is reasonable to conclude
that if the evidence did not establish an affront to a resident’s dignity, then it is not
sufficient to establish mistreatment, neglect or abuse. For that reason, two of the 11
residents that were identified as having been mistreated, neglected or abused because
of the same incidents contained in F241 are not discussed here.

In addition, four of the 11 residents referred to in this tag were allegedly
mistreated, neglected or abused on the basis of the following evidence: “Harm was
evident when 4 out of 5 residents in the group who needed help with toileting stated that
they had to wet themselves because nobody came when they put their call lights on for
help.”®#2 DFPC has not met its burden of proof that there was mistreatment, neglect or
abuse of residents by simply repeating a general statement made by unidentified
residents. Finally, two other residents are included in this tag because they feared
retaliation. They are not identified and no evidence is provided to support the allegation
that their fear of retaliation somehow resulted in mistreatment, neglect or abuse. For
these reasons, these six residents are not discussed here.

Resident 19
The allegations concerning treatment of Resident 19 were not sufficient to

establish an affront to the resident’s dignity, and are also insufficient to establish
mistreatment, abuse or neglect.
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Resident A

Resident A is paralyzed and unable to use her arms and legs. She is totally
dependent on staff for all bodily needs. Resident A reported that the nursing assistants
would come in, turn off her call light, and leave without even asking what she
wanted.*#3!

The facility produced a call light audit®®¥ that indicates that, during the time
period of the audit, call lights were generally turned off promptly, within several minutes
of the time that the call light was turned on. The audit does not provide any information
concerning the action taken by the staff answering the call.***!

The facility argues that the surveyor has not complied with the Principles of
Documentation in this instance, by confirming the information from observation or
multiple resident interviews.*®) However, in this case, that is not a fair characterization
of the evidence in the record. Several other residents voiced the same complaint
concerning staff coming into their rooms to turn off the call light and leaving without
asking what the resident wanted or needed.’* The frequency with which different
residents voiced the same complaint in survey interviews, and the number of times that
this concern appears in the Resident Council Meeting minutes,**® support the validity of

the complaints voiced by Resident A concerning lack of responsiveness.

For the reasons listed above, the ALJ determined under F241 that such treatment
was an affront to the resident’s dignity. Failure to respond to call lights and resident
requests for assistance are also evidence of resident neglect. In the case of resident A,
DFPC has shown neglect by a preponderance of the evidence.

Resident 9

Resident 9 is a 40-year-old male who suffers from traumatic brain injury, short-
and long-term memory problems, severely impaired cognitive skills, and depression.
This resident has multiple behavioral concerns, such as repetitive verbalizations, calling
out for help, and verbal abuse of others.*4?

DFPC alleges that facility staff did not get the resident out of his bed upon his
request. On November 9, 2003, during an interview with a surveyor, the resident
wanted to get out of bed. The resident’s call light was on the floor, and therefore
inaccessible to him. After assistance from the surveyor, the resident was able to turn on
the call light. A staff member responded, then went to find another staff person to assist

her in getting the resident out of bed.*>%

When the surveyor returned to the resident’s room one-half hour later, the
resident was still in bed.®®¥ The surveyor asked a staff person why the resident was
still in bed, and was told that this was a “behavior” the resident engaged in. Upon
review of the resident’s records, the surveyor could find no reference to a behavior of
repeatedly wanting to get out of bed.
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The facility objects to the surveyor’s assumption of what occurred in Resident 9’s
room since the surveyor’s notes clearly show that the surveyor was not with Resident 9
in his room the entire period of time in question.’®@ The facility asserts that the
resident's MDS,*®3 Mood and Behavior Monitoring Log,[@] Data Collection &
Assessment,***! and progress notes for March 2002 through October 2003*®! all note
the resident’s behavior problems and interventions. The Facility’s evidence shows that
on November 5, 2003, the resident continually put on his call light to request to get out
of bed when he had just lay down. This one recorded incident does not establish a
behavior on the part of the resident.

A resident’s request in the early afternoon to get out of bed is reasonable, and
failure to respond to that request is an affront to the resident’s dignity, as found in F241.
However, one example of a resident waiting in bed for a half hour to get out of bed does
not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the resident was mistreated,
neglected or abused.

Resident B

Resident B reported that staff yelled at her, but that she hadn’t reported it
because she is afraid of retaliation.®*” This resident wanted to remain anonymous.!**
The facility responded that “[b]ecause of the resident’s own diagnosis, and according to
MDH’s own Resident Review Worksheet, page 1 (see MDH Exhibit J6a), this resident is
not interviewable.”®>%

Even if resident B were “interviewable,” DFPC has not shown that the resident
was mistreated, neglected or abused. The statement of one resident, particularly when
that resident suffers from depression and anxiety,*®? is not sufficient to meet the
DFPC'’s burden of demonstrating that this regulation has been violated.

Resident 24

The allegations and evidence concerning treatment of Resident 24 were not
sufficient to establish an affront to the resident’'s dignity, and are also insufficient to
establish mistreatment, abuse or neglect.

Conclusion

The DFPC has established that residents were neglected in the case of Resident
A, but not in the case of the other residents cited. The DFPC cited this tag as a scope
and severity rating of “H” which means that actual harm was found and a pattern
existed. The record does not support a finding of a pattern since only one instance of
neglect was supported. Nor does the record demonstrate actual harm to Resident A by
the failure to respond to call lights. Rather a finding of “no actual harm with potential for
more than minimal harm” better fits the evidence. It is therefore recommended that the
scope and severity be determined to be at a “D” level.
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F241 — Quality of Life - Dignity

DFPC alleges that the facility failed to promote dignity (self-worth and self-
esteem) in caring for residents who were physically handicapped and dependent on
staff for meeting their physical needs. According to the DFPC, four residents from the
Resident Group meeting"®Y and Residents A, 9, 19 and 24 were harmed by the lack of
respect and lack of staff interventions to promote each resident’s dignity. DFPC found
multiple violations of 42 C.F.R. 8 483.15(a) and assigned a scope and severity level of
“H,” meaning that there is a pattern of the deficiency, resulting in actual harm that is not
immediate jeopardy.

This regulation requires the facility to promote care for residents in a manner and
in an environment that maintains or enhances each resident’s dignity and respect in full
recognition of his or her individuality. The Guidance to Surveyors further defines dignity
to mean that in their interactions with residents, staff carries out activities that assist the
resident to maintain and enhance his/her self-esteem and self-worth. DFPC has starred
the example of “Assisting residents to attend activities of their own choosing.”

This tag centers on the facility staff's alleged failure to answer call lights; and an
alleged pattern of appearing in the residents’ room after the call light was used, and
turning off the call light without inquiring why the call light was lit, or responding to
requests for assistance. DFPC acknowledges that “much of this deficiency is
represented by resident interview,” thus the resident's mental state, and the
corroboration of the interview information with information obtained by observations and
from records, are relevant to the validity of the information recorded by the surveyor.

Resident 19

Resident 19's “most prominent problem” is anxiety.!*2 He has repetitive health
complaints, such as an obsessive concern with bodily functions.*®¥ The resident also
has a short-term memory problem.*¥ Resident 19 told the surveyor that facility staff
threw his soiled diapers on the floor. On another occasion, instead of throwing the
diaper away, the staff person allegedly placed it on his desk next to his head.

The incidents reported by Resident 19 provide evidence of lack of respect and
insults to resident dignity. The facility responded that the surveyor had not complied
with the Principles of Documentation (POD) in this instance.*®® DFPC quotes the POD
as follows: “To the greatest extent possible, the surveyor verifies the information
obtained from interview through observation or record review. In the absence of other
objective validation of information, information may also be confirmed/verified through
multiple interview sources.”*%®

One staff person testified that Resident 19 frequently makes up stories as a
result of his memory problems and significant anxiety.[m He also stated that what the
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resident alleged could not be accurate. He testified that staff would place a soiled
diaper in the wastebasket, which is located next to the resident's bed.*®® The desk
was across the room.**¥ The uncorroborated statement of one resident, particularly
when that resident suffers from anxiety and memory problems, is not sufficient to meet

the DFPC'’s burden of demonstrating that this regulation has been violated.
Resident A

Resident A is paralyzed and unable to use her arms and legs. She is totally
dependent on staff for all bodily needs. Resident A reported that the nursing assistants
would come in, turn off her call light, and leave without even asking what she
wanted.2™

The facility produced a call light audit®¥ that indicates that, during the time
period of the audit, call lights were generally turned off promptly, within several minutes
of the time that the call light was turned on. The audit does not provide any information
concerning the action taken by the staff answering the call.2?

The facility again argues that the surveyor has not complied with the Principles of
Documentation in this instance, by confirming the information from observation or
multiple resident interviews.*”®) However, in this case, that is not a fair characterization
of the evidence in the record. Several other residents™™ voiced the same complaint
concerning staff coming into their rooms to turn off the call light and leaving without
asking what the resident wanted/needed. The frequency with which different residents
voiced the same complaint in survey interviews, and the number of times that this
concern appears in the Resident Council Meeting minutes,*” support the validity of the
complaints voiced by Resident A concerning lack of responsiveness.

The failure to respond to resident requests for assistance is an affront to resident
dignity. The DFPC has shown a violation of this regulation by a preponderance of the
evidence.

Resident 9

Resident 9 suffers from traumatic brain injury, short- and long-term memory
problems, severely impaired cognitive skills, and depression. This resident has multiple
behavioral concerns, such as repetitive verbalizations, calling out for help, and verbal

abuse of others.t78

DFPC alleges that facility staff did not get the resident out of his bed upon his
request. On November 9, 2003, during an interview with a surveyor, the resident
wanted to get out of bed. The resident’s call light was on the floor, and therefore
inaccessible to him. After assistance from the surveyor, the resident was able to turn on
the call light. A staff member responded, then went to find another staff person to assist

her in getting the resident out of bed.2™
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When the surveyor returned to the resident’s room one-half hour later, the
resident was still in bed.2”® The surveyor asked a staff person why the resident was
still in bed, and was told that this was a “behavior” the resident engaged in. Upon
review of the resident’s records, the surveyor could find no reference to a behavior of
repeatedly wanting to get out of bed.

The facility objects to the surveyor’s assumption of what occurred in Resident 9’s
room since the surveyor’s notes clearly show that the surveyor was not with Resident 9
in his room the entire period of time in question.’” The facility asserts that the
resident's MDS,*®? Mood and Behavior Monitoring Log,[&] Data Collection &
Assessment,*82 and progress notes for March 2002 through October 200383 all note
the resident’s behavior problems and interventions. The Facility’s evidence shows that
on November 5, 2003, the resident continually put on his call light to request to get out
of bed when he had just lay down. One recorded incident does not establish a behavior
on the part of the resident. A resident’s request in the early afternoon to get out of bed
is reasonable, and failure to respond to that request is an affront to the resident’s
dignity.

Resident 24

DFPC alleges that this resident “experienced psychological harm when staff
came in the room and she found it necessary to yell, “hey its me” to get assistance.
Staff allegedly just walked away. She explained that she could only get their attention
by getting, “out of control by screaming to get attention.” There is no cite to any
interview or other evidence in the record concerning the statements of this resident.
The facility argues that, according to the principles of documentation, surveyors must
corroborate statements with direct observation or documentation.*® DFPC does not
respond to this argument in its Response, and has not proven by a preponderance of
the evidence that this regulation was violated as to this resident.

Conclusion

DFPC has demonstrated a failure to promote dignity in the case of Resident A
and Resident 9. It cited this violation at a scope and severity level of “H” meaning that
actual harm and a pattern was found. The record supports a determination that actual
harm occurred given the condition of these two residents and the seriousness of the
incidents. However, the scope is isolated since only two residents were shown to be
involved in the violation. A scope and severity rating of “G” is appropriate based upon
the record.

Tag F250 — Social Services

This tag relates to 42 C.F.R. 483.15 and the provision of medically-related social
services. The regulation was described under the 10/31/03 survey and the same
general information applies in this instance. Under this tag, DFPC found a violation of
42 C.F.R. 483.15(g) and assigned a severity and scope level of “J”, meaning that the


http://www.pdfpdf.com

deficiency is isolated, but that immediate corrective action is necessary because the
facility’s noncompliance with one or more rules has caused, or is likely to cause, serious
injury, harm, impairment, or death to a resident receiving care in a facility. Serious
injury, harm, impairment or death does not have to actually occur before considering
immediate jeopardy.*®! Facility surveyors are taught to look for “triggers” when
assessing immediate jeopardy, such as lack of facility supervision for an individual with
known special needs; failure to adequately monitor individuals with known severe self-
injurious behavior; and failure to carry out a doctor’'s order.*®® Resident 7 is the only

immediate jeopardy example under this Tag.

Resident 7

This resident is a 54-year-old woman suffering from severe depression,
psychosis, and a history of suicidal ideations. She admits to sometimes hearing voices
during bouts of severe depression. This resident was admitted to Robbinsdale on
October 28, 2003, during the course of the first survey. Just prior to her admission, she

had been voluntarily hospitalized for depression.!:8”

DFPC first relies on the November 9, 2003, interview between the surveyor and
Resident 7, at which time the resident appeared severely depressed and suicidal.*®®!
She indicated that her will had been prepared, that she was having a hard time, that she
was hearing voices, and that she was feeling anxious and putting herself down. She
had recently spoken with her son and was upset and tearful. The resident told the
surveyor that she had informed the Fairview-University hospital staff that she had a plan
for killing herself, and she acknowledged that she felt suicidal on that day. That same
day, the surveyor reviewed the resident’s hospital records, which revealed her suicide
plan and worsening depression as well as her history of suicidal ideations.**® DFPC
alleges that Resident 7’s facility admission records show no evidence of her severe
depression and suicidal ideations and that the care plan lacked an approach to monitor
the resident's feelings and status.®® DFPC also points to an interview with a
Robbinsdale nurse on November 9, 2003, during which the nurse indicated that she
was not aware of any special monitoring needs for Resident 7.2°) Based upon these
arguments, the surveyors concluded that the facility failed to provide the resident with
social service interventions to meet her needs and protect her from a possible act of
self-injurious behavior, or suicide attempt, or hallucinations. DFPC labeled the resident
an immediate jeopardy (“1J”) situation.

The facility asserts that the very reason Resident 7 came to Robbinsdale was to
be in a safe environment so that she could focus on her well-being. Consequently, the
facility argues that the staff was aware of the resident’s mental health issues, and points
to an evaluation the resident had with a facility staff person the day after she was
admitted to Robbinsdale during which they discussed methods for the resident to calm
herself and confirmed her already-scheduled outside counseling appointment.**? The
facility acknowledges that it is possible that some of the night staff might not have

known of the resident’s special monitoring needs because the resident was so new to
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the facility. Here, as under some of the previous tags, the facility seeks to demonstrate
that the surveyors wrote up the violations in such a way as to take resident statements
out of context or leave out information critical to the intended meaning of the statement.
For instance, regarding the November 9, 2003 interview between Resident 7 and the
surveyor, the surveyor did not indicate on Form 2567 that the resident, after saying “I'm
feeling a little anxious putting myself down,” then went on to say “If | don’t get better . . .
| could go to her . .. Susan is the social worker.”

The facility also objected to DFPC'’s failure to note on the Form 2567 that the
resident, in response to the question of whether she was suicidal now, responded “um,
no.” Ultimately, Robbinsdale claims that this information never appeared on the Form
2567, which DFPC intended to use to support the “IJ” finding. This resident received
extensive counseling services in her day treatment program, which continued to some
degree after her admission to the facility.?*® And the facility reported the resident’s
concerns regarding hearing voices to her psychiatrist on at least two occasions.2*? A
facility staff person stated that the resident’'s psychiatrist expressed frustration at
Robbinsdale staff for contacting him or her every time the resident heard voices.!*
Further, the facility also relies on a “no harm” contract signed by Resident 7 on
November 10, 2003, to show that she would talk to facility staff if she started thinking
suicidal thoughts.!2%!

The record indicates that DFPC was selective in the statements it attributed to
Resident 7. The surveyor’s notes, when read in their entirety, show that the resident did
know that there were individuals at the facility that could help her if she became
increasingly suicidal.’®? But it was apparent that she had put thought into the
implications of suicide and a possible plan. The resident went on to state that she could
never get away with a suicide attempt because of all the people at the facility, and she
acknowledged that she felt particularly sad at the time of the interview because of
conversations with her son.

The records from her hospital stay just prior to admission at Robbinsdale show
that she entered the hospital voluntarily, and that while she has had numerous suicidal
ideations, she has made no suicide attempts.?*® She expressed that the day treatment
program had been helpful to her, and that she needed to be encouraged to go more
often. The physician noted that Resident 7 was able to contract for safety and that she
was at low to moderate risk for self-harm. Further hospital documentation from that stay
indicates “no present active self-harm” and plans for her to remain under clinical
observation.’® The “no harm” contract presented by the facility is dated after the
surveyor interview with the resident and after the surveyor declared an “IJ” situation.
Accordingly, it cannot be considered as evidence of what the facility did to help
Resident 7 in the time prior to the surveys.

Resident 7’s care plan does list depression, self-injury, and a history of suicidal
ideations as problems. The resident’s stated goal is to “be safe in her environment” and
the approach to reach that goal is to administer medications and treatments per doctors’
orders, monitor for side effects and effectiveness of medication, update the doctor as

needed, and take resident to safety in an emergency.?®® On October 30, 2003 the
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resident was scheduled for an appointment with a psychologist on November 14,
2004.12°4 progress notes from November 3 and 4, 2003, indicate that facility staff was
responding to the resident’s statement that she was hearing voices by contacting her
physician and monitoring her.2%2

The surveyor spoke to Resident 7 shortly after a tearful phone call with her son.
The Form 2567 did not include comments of the resident indicating that she was not
immediately suicidal. The record indicates that the IPOC included appropriate
information on Resident 7’s condition and she did receive 1:1 services shortly after
admission. However, some staff were unaware of the resident’s suicide issues 10 days
after admission and did not appear to be prepared to monitor this, nor did the care plan
have a monitoring component.

The record demonstrates a violation in that the resident’s needs were not met —
her suicidal tendencies were not monitored and staff was not prepared to intervene.
The DPFC found this violation to be an immediate jeopardy severity rating based
primarily on the resident interview. However, based upon the record as a whole, the
severity is more accurately classified as “no actual harm with potential for more than
minimal harm.” It does not appear that serious harm occurred or was likely. Neither
was there a negative outcome compromising the resident’s ability to reach her highest
practicable mental well-being. The resident knew who to talk to at the facility to seek
help. That she was having a difficult day when interviewed does not establish that it
was caused by a lack of services.

Resident 16

This resident, a 33-year-old male, was committed to Robbinsdale by a court
order®® on May 8, 2003, from the hospital where he was recovering from a fractured
jaw, a fractured hip, and a broken elbow sustained during a suicide attempt. The
resident has diagnoses of major recurrent depression and schizophrenia. Prior to his
admission, a Level Il pre-admission screening was done to determine if the placement
at Robbinsdale was appropriate. The screening indicated that the resident was to have
mental health case management and weekly psychotherapy as arranged by the
facility.[2%

DFPC alleged that this therapy and case management was not provided to the
resident, citing the facility’s failure to implement the psychologist's recommendations as
part of the care plan, assist with the resident’s mood through one-on-one interactions
with staff,’”® and monitor the resident when he was found sitting on a bridge in the
facility.?® Specifically, DFPC observed that two of the resident's social service
assessments, completed on May 9 and 12, 2003, did not reference his suicidal history
or his need for follow-up care, and in fact, represented the resident’s suicide attempt as
a “fall” with trauma.”®®? In a care note dated May 13, 2003, Dr. Dummer recommended
that facility staff have individual contact with Resident 16 and attempt to expose him to
sensory stimulating activities.”® DFPC saw no evidence of such care documented by

the facility.
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On July 28, 2003, the resident attended a follow-up hearing in court regarding his
commitment to Robbinsdale, at which time the court determined that he would remain at
the facility for “observation, evaluation, diagnosis, care, treatment and, if necessary,
confinement.?®! |n the time following that hearing, DFPC alleges that the facility
arranged therapy for the resident only every three weeks, as opposed to every week as
required by the pre-screening admission. DFPC further asserts that the nursing notes
do not indicate that the resident was getting help with his mood issues and focuses
instead on the resident’s physical issues.?’® DFPC also relies on the August 2, 2003
incident where facility staff found the resident sitting on the railing of the fourth floor
bridge. In the course of attempting to help the resident, a facility nurse left him alone
long enough for him to climb back over the railing. The resident did jump or fall from the
bridge and sustained lacerations to his chin and lips.?*!

Dr. Dummer testified, on Robbinsdale’s behalf, that the facility generally followed
his recommendations with respect to the resident’s care and treatment. The facility
documented that Resident 16 was taking his medication as ordered and focusing on
healing.®? The resident and his psychiatrist had even begun to work on a discharge
plan to get the resident back into independent living. Dr. Dummer met with the resident
on a regular basis after the diagnostic assessment, and at no time did the resident
express suicidal ideations.”®® The facility documented that between May 9, 2003 and
July 31, 2003, a facility staff person had one-on-one time with the resident on eleven
occasions.? The facility argued that the resident was never left alone on the bridge
railing, that the staff observed him carefully and talked with him, and that the resident
moved back onto the railing when a staff member left to get the assistance of another
staff person.?%?

The resident’s care plan lists his problems with suicide attempts, schizophrenia,
ineffectual coping, danger to self, depression, withdrawn behavior, and depressed affect
with goals of remaining safe and injury free as well as complying with physicians’ orders
and allowing facility staff to assist him with cares.’?!® The stated approach to reaching
his goals is one-on-one sessions as needed and visits with Dr. Dummer. The record
indicates that the resident saw Dr. Dummer once in May, twice in June, and once in
July.2!l The facility documented therapeutic recreation one-on-one visits almost
weekly between May 9 and July 31, 2003. But neither the progress notes nor the
Activities of Daily Living, Mood, and Behavior Tracking Record demonstrate that facility
staff closely monitored the resident’'s mood or mental care; the bulk of that evidence
relates to the resident’s physical condition, as suggested by DFPC. The facility and
DFPC accounts of the August 2, 2003 incident on the bridge railing are supported by
the record.

The issue is whether the facility provided medically-related social services to
Resident 16. The record justifies a conclusion that the facility fell short by failing to
clearly monitor the resident's clearly serious mental health problems. The
psychotherapy appointments fall short of the initial assessment and the psychologist’s
recommendation for individual contact does not appear to have been fully
implemented. The facility’s treatment focuses on the resident’s physical problems
rather than his psychological issues. The progress notes do not reflect “mental health
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case management.” The resident’s “fall,” while not determinative as to this alleged
violation, is some indication of a lack of services. A violation has been shown.

Resident 1

Resident 1 is a 33-year-old female diagnosed with anxiety, depression and
agitation. She has cognitive impairment and is paralyzed on her left side. The
surveyors founds that Resident 1 displayed emotional and behavioral issues in August,
September, and October 2003./28 She was experiencing the loss of a friend and also
having inappropriate sexual fantasies and boundary issues with facility staff and
residents. The resident’'s physician noted her boundary issues and recommended that
the resident have female caregivers whenever possible; the physician also suggested
further consultation with the resident’s psychiatrist about medications related to the
resident’s increased sexual impulsivity.?¢!

DFPC acknowledges that the resident discussed some of these issues with Dr.
Dummer in September but suggests the facility failed to provide regular counseling or
one-on-one visits with Resident 1 to help her deal with the loss of her friend.??% DFPC
alleges that the facility did not implement the physician’s recommendations or other
interventions with the resident through adequate assessment and revision of the care
plan. Therefore, it believes the resident was not provided with social services based on
her needs.

The facility responds to this allegation by pointing to the resident’s plan of care,
which addresses issues of mood, feelings, lost roles, crying and sadness.”?Y The plan
of care was updated on October 31, 2003 with goals and interventions regarding the
resident’s recent behavior. In addition, Robbinsdale argues that the resident’s three
meetings with Dr. Dummer,'??2 four 1:1 meetings with her LSW,??¥ and numerous
contacts and conversations with facility staff?*? were all methods of providing the
resident with social services based on her needs.

The record shows that on September 9, 2003, the resident’'s physician
recommended a consult with psychiatry regarding the resident’s medications relative to
her sexual impulsivity.??® There is no indication that this was ever done. Her
medications were changed on November 3, 2003. Approaches to her care plan goals
included monitoring behavior and her care plan, encouraging the resident to express
her feelings, administering medications and monitoring side effects, checking on the
resident’s needs, having the resident visit with Dr. Dummer, and calming her down.?%!
The record documents the resident’s appointments with Dr. Dummer on May 20, July
22, and September 2, 2003. The one-on-one meetings between the resident and facility
staff occurred on January 1, 2003, April 30, 2003,22” July 25, 2003, and October 23,
2003. Five of the seven documented interventions took place prior to the behavioral
issues and sexual fantasy/boundary problems.

The facility documented seven one-on-one meetings in the first ten months of
2003, however only two occurred after the sexual fantasy behavioral problems arose.
The record supports a conclusion that the resident was experiencing ongoing behavior
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problems without a response from the facility in terms of planning or interventions.
Although the resident was demanding with staff, the attention she received as a result
was not therapeutic. It appears that a recommendation for a consult with psychiatry in
regard to medication was not followed up by the facility. The DFPC has demonstrated a
violation.

Resident 18

Resident 18 is a male diagnosed with flat affect, end stage congestive heart
failure, and chronic renal failure. He was admitted to Robbinsdale on July 10, 2003.

DFPC contends that the facility did not provide the resident with social service
interventions to assist him in coping with his debilitating health condition and poor
prognosis for recovery by failing to update his care plan with appropriate interventions
for his flat affect and mood swings. The care plan identifies negative comments, flat
affect, mood swings, and a potential for isolation as problems for Resident 18.228 The
goal is for the resident to socialize with staff and other residents, and social services is
to help in the intervention. On November 10, 2003, surveyors observed Resident 18
sitting on his bed in the dark looking unkempt.??® He had a flat affect and answered
guestions vaguely. During an interview with surveyors on November 11, the resident’s
social worker explained that new “admits” are seen by social services on an as-needed
basis when facility staff make a note for a resident to be seen, and at least
quarterly.®® DFPC asserts that even though Resident 18's physical health was rapidly
deteriorating, that was all the more reason to focus on his mental and emotional health
in his final days.

Robbinsdale counters with the resident’s physician’s statements that, given his
condition, the resident was not a candidate for any intervention, only palliation and
hospice.2Y The facility argued that the resident regularly participated in facility
activities,'”*? had one-on-one visits with social services, and generally improved while at
Robbinsdale.?

Social service progress notes from July 14, 2003, state that the resident resisted
cares almost daily and that his mood was not easily altered.”*¥ Four days later, facility
staff noted on the resident’'s MDS that he had not exhibited any mood and behavior
patterns since his arrival at Robbinsdale.’® On July 21, 2003, the resident refused to
complete a mini-mental state assessment because he was irritable. The record does
not demonstrate what activities the resident was involved in, only that he was
involved.

DFPC asserts that Resident 18 should have received more social service
interventions to meet his deteriorating health and poor prognosis. However, the record
shows that the resident resisted cares daily. He was involved in activities 1/3 to 2/3 of
the time, had 1:1 services and improved while at Robbinsdale. DFPC has not met its
burden to show that this resident, whose physician stated he had end stage congestive
heart failure and renal failure, was denied needed social services.
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Resident 22

This resident is diagnosed with chronic health concerns, a brain tumor, seizure
disorder, and depression. DFPC noted that the resident’s minimum data set (MDS)Z®!
and resident assessment protocol (RAP)?” indicated that the resident displayed anger,
unpleasant mood in the morning, and anxiousness at least five days per week. The
RAP indicated that the facility would address the triggered mood items in the care plan.
Upon review of the care plan, DFPC observed that it did not address precursors to the
resident’'s anger or specific steps to take in response to it.2®¥ DFPC also noted few
social service visits with the resident.¥ And when surveyors interviewed the social
worker during the survey, the social worker affirmed that the care plan lacked the
problem, goal, and approaches for the resident’s mood patterns.2?

The facility seeks to have the alleged violation regarding this resident stricken
from the Form 2567, due to the DFPC’'s alleged failure to previously identify the
resident. DFPC claims that the Roster/Sample Matrix and the Resident Review
Worksheet both identified Resident 22, and that both of these documents were
submitted to the facility prior to the hearing as part of the information exchange. It
appears that the facility should have been able to identify this resident based upon the
information exchange. Nonetheless, given the post-hearing briefing schedule, the
facility had a fair opportunity to address the DFPC’s arguments relating to this resident.
The facility made no request to continue the meeting or to submit further evidence.

The facility has presented nothing to refute DFPC’s substantive allegations, and
the record presented does support those allegations. The resident’s annual MDS,
dated August 7, 2003, indicates that the resident has daily or almost daily anger,
repetitive anxious complaints, unpleasant mood in the morning, and repetitive physical
movements.*Y Three pages later in the document it suggests that the facility would
provide no intervention programs for this resident for mood, behavior, and cognitive
loss.*2 The care plan directed the facility to monitor and document inappropriate
behavior episodes, interventions and the resident’s response; provide cues and
redirection when inappropriate behaviors are exhibited; praise the resident for
appropriate responses to stress; remove the resident from stressful situations; engage
in one-on-one meetings with the resident as needed; and allow the resident to vent her
emotions.?*3 A lack of needed social services has been demonstrated.

Resident 3

Resident 3, a 29-year-old female, was admitted to the facility on October 10,
2003, with mild mental retardation, acute respiratory distress syndrome, bi-polar
disease, manic depressive disorder, dependent personality disorder with passive
aggressive features, and sleep apnea.’**!

DFPC argues that the resident's MDS and RAPs, as well as a social service note
dated October 13, 2003, all indicate that the resident was depressed, anxious, and sad
three to five times per week as shown through unpleasant mood in the morning, sad
and pained facial expressions, anxious complaints, repetitive health complaints, and
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refusal to take her medications four to five times per week.**) Progress notes also

showed that the resident was functioning at the level of an 11 or 12-year-old and that
she had refused meals on at least two occasions.”*® On October 17, 2003, the
resident’s physician noted that the resident could see the facility house psychologist on
an as-needed basis.”**”! The resident’s care plan indicated that the interventions for her
mood symptoms would be to meet with social services and Dr. Dummer.*8 The
surveyor review of the record found no documentation of visits with social services or
with Dr. Dummer prior to November 10, 2003.*%! During the interview with the surveyor
on November 10, 2003, the resident stated that she did not like it at the facility and that
she was sleeping a lot because she was depressed.®®® DFPC cited this deficiency
because it alleges that the facility did not implement the planned interventions for this
resident, and when her mood failed to improve, the facility did not add or change
interventions.

The facility indicated that the resident refused her medication, sometimes refused
to eat, and when a staff person observed the resident crying on the telephone on
October 16, 2003, the facility called Dr. Dummer to set up an appointment with the
resident. The facility argues that the reason for the late involvement of Dr. Dummer had
to do with the resident being transferred/admitted to the hospital for several days. The
resident was transferred to the hospital with chest pains on October 24 and did not
return to the facility until October 27, 2003.2°2 The following day she left the facility for
a follow-up medical appointment.® On the day of her appointment with Dr. Dummer,
the resident refused to see him due to fatigue and discomfort.”> And by the surveyor’s
notes, they found this resident uninterviewable.®* The facility considers all documents
that contain interventions and care issues to constitute the resident’s care plan and
reiterated a resident’s right to refuse treatment.

The progress notes also demonstrate that the resident was transported to the
clinic on October 21, 2003 to have her J-Tube removed.”* For the next few days, she
was in great pain, and shortly thereafter, she entered the hospital with chest pains, as
discussed above. The record as a whole shows that the resident’s physical health was
the significant and primary issue of concern during the first month of her stay at
Robbinsdale. The facility arranged the appointment between Dr. Dummer and the
resident as promptly as it could, given the resident’s significant physical health issues.
The record does not show that the facility failed to provide needed social services in the
month that Resident 3 was at Robbinsdale in light of the resident's more pressing
physical health issues. An appointment with the psychologist was made six days after
the resident's admission and the resident then refused to see him. Although the
resident told the surveyor she did not like it at the facility, DFPC has not shown that
needed social services were not provided.

Resident 14

Resident 14 is 66-year-old woman diagnosed with multiple sclerosis, spastic
guadriplegia, depression, and dysphasia. She was admitted to Robbinsdale on January
8, 1992. The resident saw Dr. Dummer on March 4, 2003, at which time he
recommended that the resident see him for further psychotherapy to address her
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disability and the placement at Robbinsdale.”®® He noted that the resident expressed
discouragement, low self-esteem, sadness, loss of interest in life, and feelings that life is
not worth living.”*” Dr. Dummer also recommended that the staff and social services
interactions with the resident should be planned to take place in an environment
conducive to her expressing herself.%8

DFPC argues that the plan of care did not adequately address each of Dr.
Dummer’s recommendations, and that the record does not demonstrate that staff gave
consistent emotional support to the resident in times of sadness or that social services
were provided. As an example, DFPC refers to the resident's mood and behavior
symptom monitoring log, which indicates that the resident had two episodes of crying in
October 2003.2*? DFPC argues that the notation of the two episodes, without
interventions, on the mood log and the failure to note the episodes on the resident’s
weekly charting show that the facility staff failed to provide emotional support to the
resident. DFPC searched the record for evidence that follow-up visits were arranged
between the resident and Dr. Dummer and found none. This was verified by a social
worker at the facility on November 9, 2003, who then stated she would call and set up
therapy sessions for the resident.’2”

The facility argues that the resident's communication difficulties and preferences
are indicated on her Psychosocial Well-Being module and her Cognitive Loss/Dementia
module.?®!! The latter module shows that the resident has withdrawn from activities, but
that she was offered independent activities.”*®? The Psychosocial module indicates that
the resident does not enjoy large group situations and directs the staff person to her
care plan.®®? Robbinsdale argues that the care plan refers staff to the Caregiver
Instruction Sheet located in the resident’s room, which provides tips on facilitating
expressive and receptive communication.® The facility asserts that the resident was
receiving one-on-one contact each time a staff person assisted the resident with her
cares. The facility also cites to a series of complex medical situations, for instance
small strokes, pain, and fever that may have interfered with the resident’s receipt of
medically-related social services. As to the Caregiver Instruction Sheet noted above,
DFPC claims that surveyors never saw this document during either survey, and that the
facility did not present the document in its pre-hearing submissions.

The record supports that the facility acknowledged the resident’s aversion to large
group situations and her withdrawal from activities. The RAP module consistently
directs the reader to the resident’s care plan. Examined in more detail, the care plan
indicates that the resident has, among other things, ineffective coping mechanisms,
verbal aggression, difficulty in new situations, crying episodes, and becomes easily
annoyed when people cannot understand her speech.?®® Besides monitoring her
medications, the care plan directs facility staff to allow the resident to vent upset
feelings, to remind her to relax and take time to form her thoughts and sentences when
she is frustrated, and have 1:1 sessions with social services as needed.**® But the
care plan says nothing about arranging follow-up visits between the resident and Dr.
Dummer. The care plan does refer facility staff to a Caregiver Instruction Sheet in the
resident’'s room for facilitating communication with the resident.®® However, the
document does not appear in the record. Finally, during the interview between the
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social worker and the surveyor on November 9, 2003, not only did the social worker
acknowledge that follow-up therapy sessions had not been scheduled, she also agreed

that the sessions had been overlooked.!2¢8!

DFPC has sustained its burden of proof to show that medically-related social
services were not provided to Resident 14. The facility acknowledged its failure to
follow up on Dr. Dummer’s March recommendation for follow-up psychotherapy, until
November of 2003. Dr. Dummer also recommended planned interactions for the
resident. Although the resident was adverse to large group situations, the only
documented interaction with the resident appears to be the provision of daily cares for
her. Given the resident’s difficulties as noted in the mood log, it must be concluded that
the resident was not receiving needed services.

Resident 6

Resident 6 has a diagnosis of organic brain syndrome, cerebral palsy,
hydrocephalus, quadriplegia, personality disorder, depression, and chronic convulsive
disorder. The resident's MDS and RAP show that he experienced depression, anxiety,
and sad mood, as shown through repetitive health complaints, repetitive anxious
complaints not health related, expressions of unrealistic fear, crying and tearfulness.!?*¥
Dr. Dummer, after a therapy session with the resident on February 18, 2003, directed
the facility care team to open up the resident’s mood by reminiscing about his family,
urged the staff to approach the resident intermittently about any problems he was
having at the facility and urged social services to see the resident periodically for
consultation.’?™

DFPC argues that the care plan specifically targeted the resident’s anxiety and
behavior concerns but did not address his depression and sad mood. Specifically,
DFPC points to the care plan intervention that the resident would meet with Dr. Dummer
and that the facility staff would “remove resident from others and talk to resident until
anxiousness subsides."®Y  Furthermore, DFPC claims that Dr. Dummer's
recommendations to the care team regarding the resident’s anxiety?’”? were not
discussed in the resident’s social services notes, and therefore, DFPC could not
conclude that staff and social services had implemented those recommendations.
DFPC also relies on the surveyor interview with social services, in which the social
worker admitted that she did not perform one-on-one services with the resident until
Robbinsdale nursing staff reported a problem or a need.?”® Ultimately, DFPC alleges
that a deficient practice exists because Robbinsdale did not implement the planned

interventions to improve the resident’s mood.

The facility argues that the resident’'s progress notes do show one-on-one time
with a social worker.?” Furthermore, the facility argues that its staff monitored the
resident’'s mood and behavior via the Mood and Behavior Symptom Monitoring Log
during October 2003.2” The facility places emphasis on Dr. Dummer’s use of the
words “intermittently” and “periodically” when indicating how often to approach the
resident for discussion or consultation with staff and social services.’?™
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The care plan does place greater emphasis on the resident’s anxious behaviors
than his depressed mood,””” and it does not address any of Dr. Dummer’s
recommendations made on February 18, 2003. According to the record, the facility’s
monitoring of the resident’s mood and behavior occurred only during October 2003,
eight months after Dr. Dummer made his recommendations. A progress note from
September 24, 2003, indicates that one-on-one time between the resident and facility
staff is often consoling to him,”8 but the record shows one-on-one visits with the
resident in April 2002, well before Dr. Dummer’s treatment plan, and in November 2003,
well after his recommendations. The facility’s social service contacts with this resident
do not meet even the guideline of “periodically.” The DFPC has shown a failure to
provide needed medically-related social services for Resident 6.

Resident 9

See Tags F224 and F241 above for a summary of Resident 9's diagnoses and
the facts and allegations at issue.

DFPC alleges that the facility failed to provide adequate interventions to the
resident when facility staff did not get the resident out of his bed upon his request.
DFPC suggests that the Mood and Behavior Symptom Monitoring Log shows that the
resident’s verbally abusive behaviors only occur when the resident requested to get up
out of bed. In addition, DFPC objects to an undated hand-written care plan,?”!
submitted to DFPC after the time of the survey. Specifically, this document indicates
that the resident frequently asked to get up after being laid down in his bed.

As to the resident’s care plan, the facility asserts that resident’s short-term and
long-term memory impairment, behavior issues, and life stressors are all identified as
problems and have suggested approaches such as administering medications,
encouraging the resident to express his feelings, and monitoring the resident for
episodes of inappropriate behavior.®? Included under life stressors are decreased
condition, loss of independence, and “inappropriate use of call light.”?®¥ |n addition, the
resident's MDS,?2 Mood and Behavior Monitoring Log,m Data Collection &
Assessment,?®¥ and progress notes for March 2002 through October 2003%%% all note
the resident’s behavior problems and interventions. In total, the facility argues, these
documents create a plan of care for this resident.

The hand-written one-page care plan document was not available to surveyors at
the time of the survey, and it is not clear from the record whether the document was
drafted before or after the survey. Regardless, the care plan addresses the resident’s
inappropriate use of his call light; the behavior log notes that on one particular day the
resident repeatedly wanted to get out of bed immediately after being put into bed; and
the progress notes show that time with social services was available as needed. The
resident’s progress notes indicate that from the time of the resident’s admission to the
facility until the time of the survey, there was no marked change, positive or negative, in
his behavior.®® Contrary to DFPC’s assertion, the behavior log indicates that the
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resident was verbally abusive in situations other than when he wanted to get out of
bed. The resident did receive individual assessment and care planning, even though it
wasn't always effective.

DFPC uses the same set of facts to support its allegations under Tags F224,
F241, and F250. The evidence presented under each tag was sufficient to establish a
“dignity” violation but is not enough to show that the facility failed to provide Resident 9
with medically-related social services.

Conclusion

The scope and severity rating for Tag F250 was set by DFPC at “J” because it
concluded that Resident 7 was in immediate jeopardy. If the Commissioner agrees that
that conclusion was not justified, then the S/S rating should be adjusted. The DFPC
has demonstrated a pattern in regard to this violation. In regard to severity, it is
reasonable to conclude that this is a deficient practice that only caused a limited
consequence for the residents. There was no obvious directly linked negative outcome
that compromised the residents’ ability to reach their highest practicable mental well-
being. The record shows several failures on the part of the facility to provide needed
services that had the potential to compromise the residents’ ability to attain their highest
mental and psychosocial well-being. Accordingly the scope and severity rating should
be set at “E” — reflecting a pattern and “no actual harm with potential for more than
minimal harm that is not immediate jeopardy.”

Tag F272 — Comprehensive Assessments

Under 42 C.F.R. 483.20(b)(1), the facility must make a comprehensive
assessment of a resident’'s needs, using the Resident Assessment Instrument (RAI)
specified by the State. The RAI includes the MDS and utilization guidelines, which
include the RAPs. The assessment must include eighteen specified factors, two of
which are mood and behavior patterns, and psychosocial well-being.®®? The facility is
responsible for performing this assessment on newly admitted residents and then again
on an annual basis and after significant changes in status. The facility must address all
needs and strengths of a resident regardless of whether the issue appears in the MDS
and RAP. In other words, the scope of the RAI does not limit the facility’s responsibility
to assess and address all care needed by the resident. “The facility is responsible for
addressing the resident’s needs from the moment of admission.”28

DFPC found a violation of 42 C.F.R. 483.20(b) and assigned a severity and
scope level of “D”, meaning that the deficiency is isolated and no actual harm occurred,
but where a potential for more than minimal harm that is not immediate jeopardy
existed. Resident 7 is the sole violation under this tag. See the factual summary and
the arguments of the parties regarding Resident 7 under Tag F250 of the November 12,
2003 survey.

DFPC argues that despite the facility’s knowledge of the resident’s mental illness,
drug abuse, low to moderate risk of self-harm, worsening depression, and suicidal


http://www.pdfpdf.com

ideations, the facility failed to conduct a comprehensive assessment of Resident 7’s
needs and develop an individualized care plan at the moment of admission. DFPC
refers to a lack of documentation in several places on the social services assessment
evaluation.®® |n addition, the surveyors found that the care plan lacked specificity as
to the resident’s suicidal ideations and the history, method, and actual approaches to
deal with them. Finally, DFPC relies on the guidance to surveyors that the facility is
responsible for addressing all needs and strengths of residents regardless of whether
the issue is included in the MDS or RAPs.[2%

The facility cites to its previous arguments at Tags F165 and F250 of the
November 12, 2003 survey and reiterates that the Fairview Admission Assessment was
in the resident’s medical records upon her arrival at Robbinsdale, and that the facility
was aware of her history and suicidal ideations from the moment of admission.

The record indicates that the IPOC included appropriate information on Resident
7's condition, and she did have 1:1 contact with a social worker the day of her
admission to the facility. While the IPOC is not dated, DFPC makes no argument about
its timeliness and instead suggests it lacks individualized interventions. The federal
regulation at issue makes the facility “responsible for addressing the resident’s needs
from the moment of admission.” The regulation does not state that the RAI must be
completed at the moment of admission.

Conclusion

The DFPC has not met its burden of proof to show that a violation of the
regulation occurred. The record indicates that the facility met its responsibility to
address the resident’s needs from the point of admission based upon the IPOC, the
Fairview assessment, and the social worker contact. Robbinsdale was aware of the
resident’s needs. Itis recommended that this tag be dismissed.

Tag F279 — Resident Assessment

Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 483.20(k)(1), the facility must develop a comprehensive
care plan for each resident that includes measurable objectives and timetables to meet
a resident’'s medical, nursing, and mental and psychosocial needs that are identified in
the comprehensive assessment. The care plan must describe the physical, mental, and
psychosocial services that are to be furnished, as well as any services that would
otherwise be required under 42 C.F.R. 483.25 but are not provided because the
resident has exercised his rights under 42 C.F.R. 483.10, including the right to refuse
treatment.”® An interdisciplinary team, working with the resident, resident's family,
surrogate, or representative, should develop quantifiable objectives for the highest level
of functioning the resident may be expected to attain, based upon the comprehensive

assessment.2%2

DFPC found a violation of 42 C.F.R. 483.20(k) and assigned a severity and
scope level of “D”, meaning that the deficiency is isolated and no actual harm occurred,
but where a potential for more than minimal harm that is not immediate jeopardy
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existed. Resident 16 is the sole violation under this tag. See the factual summary and
the arguments of the parties regarding Resident 16 under Tag F250 of the November
12, 2003 survey.

Resident 16 had mood and behavior concerns as shown through negative
statements; persistent anger with others; self-depreciation; sad, pained and worried
facial expressions; withdrawal from activities of interest; and reduced social
interactions.”¥ DFPC acknowledges that the facility provided documentation of
tracking the resident's mood between May 2003 and August 2003. However, DFPC
objects to the alleged failure of the facility to include precursors to the resident’s
behaviors or strengths of the resident that might have helped him to deal with his
issues. Specifically, the facility did not address questions such as: Was the staff to
create a safe environment? How was the staff to prevent the resident from acting on
self-destructive impulses? Was the staff to remove potentially harmful objects? Was
the staff to provide close supervision? Was the staff to keep the resident involved in
activities or programs? Consequently, DFPC argues that specific individualized care
plan interventions were not developed for this resident.

The facility’s argument under this tag is largely the same as the one put forth
under Tag F250 above. The facility asserts that the interventions in the care plan were
being followed.

But the issue is whether the facility developed a comprehensive care plan that
includes measurable objectives and timetables to meet the resident’s needs. Prior to
his admission to Robbinsdale, a pre-admission screening indicated that the resident
was to have mental health case management and weekly psychotherapy as arranged
by the facility. The care plan directs psych consults as ordered with possible
interventions of seeing Dr. Dummer and/or 1:1 visits as needed. Those interventions
fall short of what was required by the pre-admission screening. As a whole, the record
does not demonstrate measurable objectives and timetables.

Conclusion

Accordingly, a violation of the regulation has been shown. The severity level of
no actual harm within potential for more than minimal harm is appropriate given the
resident’'s suicide attempt and diagnoses of major recurrent depression and
schizophrenia. The pattern is isolated and therefore the rating of “D” is sustained by the
record.

Tag F353 — Nursing Services

Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 483.30, the facility must have sufficient nursing staff to
provide nursing and related services to attain or maintain the highest practicable
physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being of each resident, as determined by
resident assessments and individual plans of care.®? Sufficient staff means that the
facility must provide services by sufficient numbers of licensed nurses and other nursing
personnel on a 24-hour basis. A review of a facility’s nursing services must take place
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during a standard survey if quality of care problems have been discovered and during
any extended survey. The ability to meet the requirements of 88 483.13 (resident
behavior and facility practices), 483.15(a) (quality of life — dignity), 483.20 (resident
assessment), 483.25 (quality of care) and 483.65 (infection control) determines
sufficiency of nursing staff.”® The surveyor guidance manual indicates that the
determining factor in sufficiency of staff is the ability of the facility to provide needed
care for residents. Both quantity and quality of staff should be considered.

DFPC found a violation of 42 C.F.R. 483.30(a) and assigned a severity and
scope level of “E”, meaning that there was a pattern of the deficiency and no actual
harm occurred, but where a potential for more than minimal harm that is not immediate
jeopardy existed. The determination was based on the examples and problems noted
in Tags F250, F224, and F241 of the November 12, 2003 survey. See the facts and
arguments set forth in each of those tags.

In summary, DFPC supports this allegation with Resident Council Minutes from
January, April, August, September, and October 2003, in which residents voiced
concerns about insufficient staff, call lights not being answered, not being brought to
meals on time, and not receiving evening snacks. Residents felt that there were not
enough nurses and nursing assistants to meet the needs of the residents on an every
shift basis and that not all staff working at the facility was “quality.”

The facility refers to its responses under Tags F250, F224, and F241, and
reiterates that their staffing ratios indicate that they are staffing at a higher level than
required.

Conclusion

According to the regulation, the sufficiency of nursing staff is determined by the
facility’s ability to meet residents’ needs in areas such as quality of care, quality of life,
and resident assessment. The violations established under Tags F250, F224, and F241
involved staff treatment of residents, quality of care provided to residents, and the
dignity of residents. The violations range in scope from isolated to a pattern, and in
severity from actual harm to no actual harm with a potential for minimal harm that is not
immediate jeopardy. The ALJ recommends that the scope and severity finding of “E” be
sustained, even though actual harm was found to occur under Tag F241 and could
theoretically justify an increase in scope and severity under this tag. Because the
threshold for finding actual harm in a dignity violation is so easily met and the facts
under Tag F241 did not overwhelmingly support a finding of actual harm, that
determination is consistent with DFPC's finding of a “no actual harm” severity level
under this tag. DFPC has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the facility
violated Tag F353 at a scope and severity level of “E.”

G.AB.
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